# OVERLAP OF PREDICTED COLD-WATER CORAL HABITAT AND BOTTOM-CONTACT FISHERIES IN BRITISH COLUMBIA

by

Jessica L. Finney B.Sc. (Hons.), Dalhousie University, 2004

# PROJECT SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

#### MASTER OF RESOURCE MANAGEMENT (PLANNING)

In the School of Resource and Environmental Management

Project No. 476

© Jessica L. Finney 2009

## SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY

Fall 2009

All rights reserved. However, in accordance with the *Copyright Act of Canada*, this work may be reproduced, without authorization, under the conditions for *Fair Dealing*. Therefore, limited reproduction of this work for the purposes of private study, research, criticism, review and news reporting is likely to be in accordance with the law, particularly if cited appropriately.

# **APPROVAL**

Name:	Jessica L. Finney
Degree:	Master of Resource Management
Title of Thesis:	Overlap of predicted cold-water coral habitat and bottom- contact fisheries in British Columbia
Project No.:	476

#### **Examining Committee:**

Chair:

Jennifer Silver PhD Candidate School of Resource and Environmental Management Simon Fraser University

#### Dr. Isabelle M. Côté Senior Supervisor

Professor Department of Biological Sciences Simon Fraser University

#### Dr. Randall M. Peterman

Supervisor Professor School of Resource and Environmental Management Simon Fraser University

28,

**Edward J. Gregr** Supervisor SciTech Consulting

**Date Defended/Approved:** 

\_September

2009\_\_\_\_\_

# U SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY

# Declaration of Partial Copyright Licence

The author, whose copyright is declared on the title page of this work, has granted to Simon Fraser University the right to lend this thesis, project or extended essay to users of the Simon Fraser University Library, and to make partial or single copies only for such users or in response to a request from the library of any other university, or other educational institution, on its own behalf or for one of its users.

The author has further granted permission to Simon Fraser University to keep or make a digital copy for use in its circulating collection (currently available to the public at the "Institutional Repository" link of the SFU Library website <www.lib.sfu.ca> at: <a href="http://ir.lib.sfu.ca/handle/1892/112>">http://ir.lib.sfu.ca/handle/1892/112></a>) and, without changing the content, to translate the thesis/project or extended essays, if technically possible, to any medium or format for the purpose of preservation of the digital work.

The author has further agreed that permission for multiple copying of this work for scholarly purposes may be granted by either the author or the Dean of Graduate Studies.

It is understood that copying or publication of this work for financial gain shall not be allowed without the author's written permission.

Permission for public performance, or limited permission for private scholarly use, of any multimedia materials forming part of this work, may have been granted by the author. This information may be found on the separately catalogued multimedia material and in the signed Partial Copyright Licence.

While licensing SFU to permit the above uses, the author retains copyright in the thesis, project or extended essays, including the right to change the work for subsequent purposes, including editing and publishing the work in whole or in part, and licensing other parties, as the author may desire.

The original Partial Copyright Licence attesting to these terms, and signed by this author, may be found in the original bound copy of this work, retained in the Simon Fraser University Archive.

Simon Fraser University Library Burnaby, BC, Canada

# ABSTRACT

Recently, there has been increased interest in studying impacts of bottom-contact fishing on cold-water corals (class Anthozoa) due to the role corals play in providing biogenic habitat as well as their limited capacity to recover from disturbance. Lack of information on the distribution of coral in British Columbia limits our ability to evaluate the extent and intensity of fishing activity in coral habitat. In this thesis, suitable habitat for four orders of coral (Alcyonacea, Antipatharia, Pennatulacea, and Scleractinia) was predicted using the species distribution modelling tool, Maxent. The extent of overlap between predicted coral habitat and footprints of three bottom-contact fisheries was determined. Depending on the type of coral, fishing has occurred in 30.4 to 46.5% of predicted habitat, with effort being disproportionately concentrated in areas of predicted coral habitat. Results strongly suggest that coral habitat in BC requires protection from fishing activity to guarantee long-term viability of coral populations.

**Keywords:** species distribution models; cold-water coral; bottom-contact fishing; Maxent; British Columbia

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I owe a huge thanks to the members of my committee, Dr. Isabelle Côté, Dr. Randall Peterman, and Edward Gregr. The different perspectives each of you brought to this project challenged me and greatly improved the final outcome. I would also like to thank Dr. Bill de la Mare. He was only my supervisor for a short while, but was the one who accepted me into REM and originally suggested the topic. It has been a fulfilling, challenging, and enjoyable project.

I would like to thank everyone who provided data. Without their help this project would not have been possible. I would especially like to thank Edward Gregr and Dr. Mike Foreman who provided the environmental data, and James Boutillier who let me dig through DFO research databases and gave me time and money to work on this project. Thanks also to Jennifer Barrett, Tanya Bryan, Derek Tittensor, and Steven Phillips for providing advice and technical support.

I would like to thank the British Columbia Chapter of the Canadian Parks and Wilderness Society (CPAWS-BC) for the support and inspiration they provided.

Thank you to the members of the Fisheries Science and Management Reasearch Group (especially the members of my cohort), members of the Earth2Ocean group, and everyone in REM. You helped make my graduate experience memorable and enjoyable. A special thanks to Matthew Grinnell for everything you have done for me. You have been amazing.

iv

Finally, I would like to thank my parents, Gordon and Adele, and my sister Elisabeth for your incredible support, encouragement and love throughout the past few years, and my entire life.

I am grateful for the generous financial support provided by the Natural Science and Engineering Research Council (NSERC), CPAWS-BC, the MITACS Accelerate Internship Program, and Fisheries and Oceans Canada.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Approval	ii
Abstract	. iii
Acknowledgements	. iv
Table of Contents	. vi
List of Tables	vii
List of Figures	viii
1. Introduction	1
2. Methods	7
2.1. Study area	7
2.2. Coral data	7
2.3. Environmental data	8
2.4. Maximum entropy	10
2.5. Model building	11
2.5.1. Sensitivity analyses	11
2.5.2. Performance measures	13
2.5.3. Final models	14
2.5.4. Significance testing	16
2.6. Fishing data	17
3. Results	19
3.1. Distribution of coral	19
3.2. Sensitivity analyses	19
3.3. Final models	21
<i>3.3.1. Alcyonacea</i>	21
3.3.2. Antipatharia	21
3.3.3. Pennatulacea	22
3.3.4. Scleractinia	22
3.4. Potential fishing overlap	22
4. Discussion	25
4.1. Predicted suitable habitat	25
4.2. Contribution of environmental variables	26
4.3. Overlap with bottom-contact fishing	31
4.4. Conclusions	35
Reference List	38
Tables	45
Figures	52
Appendix 1 – Maxent Parameter Optimization	59
Appendix 2 – Environmental Variables	

# LIST OF TABLES

- Table 1 Data sources and number of coral records collected for this study. Note thatsome observations occur in more than one database.45
- Table 2Number of distinct coral records used as a function of grid size and depth. The<br/>baseline case uses a 500 m-by-500 m grid size and 2450 m depth cutoff. Bold<br/>numbers indicate that models that could not be built due to small sample size. 46
- Table 3 The type and source of environmental data used in this study, showing range and median values for each environmental variable.
   47
- Table 4 Families and genera represented in each taxonomic order used in this study.... 48

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1	Map of the study area and places described	. The thicker black line indicates the
	2450 m depth cutoff of the study area, while	the lighter grey lines indicate the
	200 m and 500 m contours	

- Figure A2.2 Relative frequency density plot of depth (m) for the entire study area (solid lines) and for each order (dotted lines). Vertical lines indicate median values. 66

Figure A2.5 Relative frequency density plot of summer current speed (m/s) for the entir study area (solid lines) and for each order (dotted lines). Vertical lines indicate median values.	e 8
Figure A2.6 Relative frequency density plot of winter current speed (m/s) for the entire study area (solid lines) and for each order (dotted lines). Vertical lines indicate median values.	8
Figure A2.7 Relative frequency density plot of tidal speed (m/s) for the entire study area (solid lines) and for each order (dotted lines). Vertical lines indicate median values.	1 9
Figure A2.8 Relative frequency density plot of summer salinity (psu) for the entire stud area (solid lines) and for each order (dotted lines). Vertical lines indicate median values.	y 59
Figure A2.9 Relative frequency density plot of winter salinity (psu) for the entire study area (solid lines) and for each order (dotted lines). Vertical lines indicate median values	0
Figure A2.10 Relative frequency density plot of summer temperature (° C) for the entire study area (solid lines) and for each order (dotted lines). Vertical lines indicate median values	; '0
Figure A2.11 Relative frequency density plot of winter temperature (° C) for the entire study area (solid lines) and for each order (dotted lines). Vertical lines indicate median values.	'1

# **1. INTRODUCTION**

Declines in fish stocks around the world have caused governments and international bodies to begin to shift away from traditional single-species management towards ecosystem-based management frameworks (e.g. FAO 1995; FAO 2002). An essential component of ecosystem-based management that differentiates it from singlespecies management is that managers must take into account the impacts of fisheries on non-target species and habitats. This need to account for collateral effects has led to a growing interest in documenting and studying the impacts of trawling and other bottomcontact fisheries on benthic communities and non-target species (e.g. Sainsbury et al. 1997; Collie et al. 1997; Pitcher et al. 2000; Tillin et al. 2006).

The impacts of bottom-contact fishing on cold-water corals (class Anthozoa) have been of particular interest. Cold-water corals form complex, three-dimensional biogenic structures that provide habitat for several commercially important fish and invertebrate species (Roberts and Hirshfield 2004; Roberts et al. 2005). Cold-water corals support extensive biodiversity by providing fishes and invertebrates with protection from strong currents, refuge from predators, nurseries for juveniles, feeding areas, spawning areas, resting areas, and breeding areas (Roberts and Hirshfield 2004; Stone 2006; Jensen and Frederiksen 1992). However, cold-water corals are easily damaged by trawl, longline, and trap gear (Stone 2006; Hall-Spencer et al. 2002; Fosså et al. 2002; Koslow et al. 2001; Waller et al. 2007; Ardron and Jamieson 2006; Sinclair 2007). Heavy trawl gear can break coral or tip over the boulders or cobbles to which they are attached (Kreiger

2001; Freese et al. 1999). Traps can cause extensive damage if gear is dragged along the seafloor in areas with steep slopes or when gear is retrieved in strong winds or current (Stone 2006). Impacts from longline gear include shearing, entanglement, and disrupting substrate to which corals are attached (Stone 2006; Kreiger 2001).

Cold-water coral have a low capacity to recover from disturbance. They are very slow growing, have low recruitment rates, and live for tens to hundreds of years (Rogers et al. 2008). Surveys conducted in Alaska and the north-west Atlantic several years after trawling ceased show little evidence of coral recolonization and recovery (Kreiger 2001; Waller et al. 2007). In addition to physical damage, Waller and Tyler (2005) suggest that trawling activity at the Darwin Mounds off of Scotland may keep colonies of *Lophelia pertusa* (order Scleractinia) below the size of sexual maturity, making recovery impossible without gamete inputs from other sources.

The Atlantic and Pacific waters of Canada are home to a diversity of cold-water coral species. Canada is involved in domestic and international efforts to provide some protection for cold-water corals, though coral in British Columbia (BC) remain unprotected. Domestically, Fisheries and Oceans Canada (DFO) established a national Centre of Expertise in Cold-Water Corals and Sponge Reefs in 2008 (DFO 2009). The Center has a mandate to: (1) provide strategic advice to management; (2) support regional, national and international efforts for coral and sponge conservation; and (3) develop tools and approaches to improve coral and sponge conservation in Canada. The Newfoundland and Labrador and Pacific Regions of DFO are currently working on developing cold-water coral conservation strategies (DFO 2009). The Maritimes Region has a Coral Conservation Strategy integrated into a larger regional integrated

management plan (DFO 2006a). At the national level, DFO is preparing to release the Resource Management Sustainable Development Framework for managing fisheries resources in 2009. Included in this will be a policy and approach to manage impacts on sensitive benthic areas. The framework will include five steps: (1) data collection; (2) identification of sensitive areas; (3) impact assessment; (4) management; and (5) monitoring and evaluation.

In addition to domestic efforts, Canada is also a signatory to several international agreements that promote increased protection for cold-water coral and other sensitive benthic habitat, including the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) and several United Nations (UN) conventions. The 2006 Convention of the Parties to the CBD requested that Parties manage activities that may have significant adverse impacts on vulnerable marine ecosystems to ensure their conservation and sustainable use (CBD 2006). In that document, cold-water corals were specifically identified as vulnerable marine ecosystems requiring enhanced management and protection. A 2008 synthesis and review of the best available science again specifically identified cold-water corals as priority areas for biodiversity conservation in marine areas beyond the limits of national jurisdiction (CBD 2008). The United Nations General Assembly (UNGA) has also passed several resolutions urging member states to protect cold-water corals (UNGA) 2004; UNGA 2006). These resolutions call on States and regional fisheries management organizations to identify vulnerable marine ecosystems and determine whether bottom fishing activities cause significant adverse impacts on those ecosystems. States and regional fisheries management organizations are urged to stop bottom trawling in areas where vulnerable marine ecosystems are known to occur and to ensure that destructive

fishing practices do not proceed unless conservation and management measures have been established (UNGA 2006). Concern was again expressed in 2008, and member States were urged to fulfil their commitments to reduce the rate of loss of biodiversity by 2010 (UNGA 2008).

In order to make informed decisions regarding the management and conservation of cold-water coral, managers require detailed information on the spatial distribution and habitat requirements of corals and threats they are facing. Unfortunately, the lack of basic information on distribution of cold-water corals in BC limits our ability to evaluate the extent and intensity of fishing activity in areas of coral habitat. Furthermore, almost all information on the presence of cold-water coral in BC is derived from research trawls and fisheries by catch data. While useful, these data only provide information on the presence of damaged or destroyed coral aggregations, and are biased towards fishing locations (Ardron and Jamieson 2006). Research surveys have used multibeam echosounders and remotely operated vehicles (ROVs) to identify large cold-water coral reef complexes as well as smaller aggregations (Roberts et al. 2005; Conway et al. 2007). However, fishery-independent types of sampling in the deep-sea environment are prohibitively expensive and impractical for coast-wide surveys. Therefore, few areas have been surveyed and it is likely that many aggregations of cold-water corals remain undiscovered. This lack of basic distributional information on corals in BC presents a serious hindrance to managing and protecting corals and conserving the biodiversity associated with them.

Species distribution models (SDMs) can help meet science and management needs for conservation and planning by predicting areas of high habitat suitability for

species or other taxonomic groups of concern. SDMs use algorithms based on habitat or environmental conditions to predict the distribution of a species in as-yet-unsampled areas by relating occurrence data to background environmental data (Guisan and Zimmermann 2000; Guisan and Thuiller 2005). SDMs can thereby inform science and policy decisions by providing rapid and cost-effective methods for mapping and predicting suitable habitat for vulnerable species, even in data-limited situations. SDMs can also identify knowledge gaps, thereby focusing research and exploration to maximize the benefit of future effort and funding.

Several modelling approaches can be used to predict suitable habitat; however, many require both presence and absence information for the taxonomic group of interest. As with many marine organisms, extensive fishery-independent surveys have not been conducted for cold-water corals in BC. Therefore, there is a lack of reliable absence data, thus limiting the choice of SDMs to presence-only methods. One presence-only method, known as ecological niche factor analysis (ENFA) (Hirzel et al. 2002), has been used in several studies to predict the distribution of several taxa of cold-water corals on both regional and global scales. The first such studies used ENFA to predict the distribution of two families of alcyonacean corals, the Paragorgiidae and the Primnoidae, along the Atlantic and Pacific continental margins of North America (Leverette and Metaxas 2005, Bryan and Metaxas, 2007). Subsequent studies predicted the global distribution of scleractinian corals on seamounts (Clark et al. 2006), and the distribution of reef-forming *Lophelia pertusa* (order Scleractinia) at the regional and global scale (Davies et al. 2008).

ENFA, however, has poorer predictive performance than other presence-only methods (e.g. Tsoar et al. 2007; MacLeod et al. 2008). Maxent is a general purpose

machine-learning method for making predictions with only presence information (Phillips et al. 2006). Maxent has been shown to perform better than other presence-only techniques and some presence/absence methods (e.g. general linear models, generalized additive models) that have been modified for use with presence-only data (e.g. Elith et al. 2006; Phillips et al. 2006). A recent study by Tittensor et al. (2009) used both ENFA and maximum entropy modelling (Maxent) to predict the distribution of scleractinian corals on seamounts. They found that Maxent produced significantly better predictions than ENFA. Maxent's excellent performance even with small sample sizes (Pearson et al. 2007; Hernandez et al. 2006) and its previous use as a tool to assess threats and set conservation priorities for vulnerable and threatened primates in Indonesia (Thorn et al. 2009) make it an ideal SDM for the present analysis.

The objectives of this study are to (1) use Maxent to predict areas of suitable habitat for four orders of cold-water coral in BC (Alcyonacea, Antipatharia, Pennatulacea and Scleractinia); (2) determine the relative contribution of various environmental variables in determining the distribution of those corals; and (3) evaluate the spatial extent and intensity of three types of bottom-contact fishing (groundfish trawl, sablefish longline, and sablefish trap) relative to the predicted coral habitat. Areas of overlap between predicted coral habitat and fishing activity are identified, along with areas that may contain pristine coral aggregations that have not been disturbed by fishing activity. The results of this study can inform future ground-truthing and management decisions regarding the protection and conservation of cold-water corals in BC.

# 2. METHODS

#### 2.1. Study area

The study area was defined as the region within the Exclusive Economic Zone (EEZ) of Pacific Canada and less than 2450 m depth (Figure 1). The depth threshold was selected to include the deepest coral record while minimizing the overall size of the study area. The study area was divided into a grid of 500 m-by-500 m cells. There were a total of 666,010 grid cells in the study area.

#### 2.2. Coral data

A database of 4,136 coral records was compiled using data obtained from several museums, online databases, Parks Canada, and Fisheries and Oceans Canada (Table 1). On-board observers in the groundfish trawl fishery in BC provide 100% coverage of the fishery and are required to report all bycatch, but their taxonomic identification of corals is generally not reliable (J. Boutillier, Pacific Biological Station, Nanaimo, BC, pers. comm.). Hence, these observer records were not used in this study. Records used in this study were originally obtained as part of research surveys, other scientific studies, and as bycatch in commercial fisheries that were sent to museums and identified by experts. Records were collected between 1882 and 2008, though the majority were collected in the past 20 years. The records represent 66 species from 28 families and 5 orders.

The cold-water coral records had varying levels of taxonomic and spatial resolution. Some records were identified to the species level while others were only

identified to order. All records were checked for consistent taxonomic classification (according to the Integrated Taxonomic Information System; http://www.itis.gov/) and were grouped so that the unique habitat requirements of each group could be identified. Limited data meant that records had to be grouped by order rather than species or family so that reasonable sample sizes could be obtained.

The recorded accuracy of spatial references ranged from several meters to several kilometres. Observations with a spatial resolution poorer than 500 m were excluded to ensure records were assigned to the correct grid cell. Multiple records of the same order that were located within the same grid cell were counted as a single observation. In total, 121 unique presence locations were used to construct the models for the order Alcyonacea, 49 for Antipatharia, 84 for Pennatulacea, and 32 for Scleractinia on the 500 m spatial scale (Table 2). At least 87% of the records used to build the model came from fishery-independent sources, thereby reducing the likelihood that the model is predicting the distribution of commercial fishing effort rather than the distribution of coral.

#### 2.3. Environmental data

Decisions regarding which environmental variables to include were made based on ecological relevance and data availability. Data on depth, slope, spring surface chlorophyll *a* concentration, bottom tidal speed, and summer and winter values for bottom non-tidal current velocities, temperature, and salinity were collated to build a model of habitat suitability for cold-water corals. Factors that are likely to influence coral distribution but for which data were not available include bottom type, dissolved oxygen, phosphate, nitrate, silicate, inorganic carbon, per cent oxygen saturation, and

aragonite saturation (Clark et al. 2006; Davies et al. 2008; Tittensor et al. 2009). The available data were imported into ArcMap 9.2 and interpolated to a 500 m-by-500 m raster using the natural neighbour technique (Watson 1992). The types and sources of environmental data used in this study are summarized in Table 3.

The depth layer was created using a mosaic of two rasters. A 75 m bathymetric dataset from Natural Resources Canada (derived from 1:250,000 bathymetric contours from the Canadian Hydrographic Service) was used for the majority of the area, while a 250 m digital elevation model from the US Geological Service was used for the southern section of the study area (E. Gregr, unpublished data, Scitech Environmental Consulting, Vancouver, BC, pers. comm.). Slope was calculated from the depth layer using the slope function in the Spatial Analyst extension of ArcMap. Slope was used as a proxy for bottom type. Steeper slopes are more likely to indicate rocky or hard bottom types (more suitable for alcyonaceans, antipatharians and scleractinians) while flatter areas are more likely to indicate sandy or muddy bottom types (more suitable for pennatulaceans) (Dunn and Halpin 2009; Hourigan et al. 2007).

Average spring (Julian days 80-171) surface concentrations of chlorophyll *a* were calculated from data obtained from the Ocean Color website (http://oceancolor.gsfc.nasa.gov/). Spring surface chlorophyll *a* concentration values were selected because the seasonality of phytodetrital food fall has been associated with the reproduction of at least two species of scleractinian corals in the Northeast Atlantic (Waller and Tyler 2005). Chlorophyll *a* data were interpolated from 4 km resolution data collected by the MODIS sensor from the years 2003-2006 (E. Gregr, unpublished data, pers. comm.). Land-based turbidity in near-shore waters can confound chlorophyll *a* 

values. Therefore the data were restricted to values ranging from 0 to 40 mg/m<sup>3</sup> to limit the impact of turbidity (E. Gregr, unpublished data, pers. comm.).

Bottom tidal speed, as well as average summer and winter values for bottom salinity and bottom temperature were obtained from a well-validated tidal circulation model of the eastern North Pacific (Foreman et al. 2008). Summer and winter bottom non-tidal current values were also obtained directly from the senior author of that paper (M. Foreman, Institute of Ocean Sciences, Sydney, BC, pers. comm.). The non-tidal current speed values have not been validated, although the relative magnitudes should be reasonable (M. Foreman, pers. comm.). Current speed can influence the relative success of recruitment and colonization as well as feeding and growth rates of suspension feeders such as cold-water corals (Genin et al. 1986). All data from M. Foreman were provided in a finite element grid and have a variable resolution ranging from about 100 m in narrow coastal channels to 70 km in the deep ocean.

#### 2.4. Maximum entropy

Maximum entropy (Maxent) is a general purpose machine-learning method for making predictions or inferences from incomplete information (Philips et al. 2006). Maxent estimates the most uniform distribution (maximum entropy) that defines a taxon's spatial distribution within a study area given the constraint that the expected value of each environmental variable for the predicted distribution matches the average values for the set of occurrence data (Philips et al. 2006). Each cell in the output map is assigned a probability of coral presence, which can be interpreted as the suitability of the habitat in that cell.

Maxent starts with a uniform probability distribution and iteratively calculates the probability of the species' presence at the sample locations until the increase in probability of occurrence from one step to the next falls below a given threshold (default =  $1 \times 10^{-5}$ ), or until the maximum number of iterations (default = 500) has been reached. The probability is displayed in terms of "gain", i.e. the log of the number of grid cells minus the log loss. Log loss equals the negative log likelihood of the test data and is the quantity that Maxent optimizes (Dudík et al. 2004). A uniform distribution over *N* sites achieves a log loss of ln *N*, with smaller values corresponding to a better prediction (Phillips and Dudík 2008).

Maximum entropy modelling was carried out using Maxent software version 3.2.19 (http://www.cs.princeton.edu/~schapire/maxent/). This program implements algorithms that are deterministic and guaranteed to converge to the maximum entropy distribution (Dudík et al. 2004). Maxent results are provided as a continuous gradient ranging from 0 (completely unsuitable) to 1 (perfectly suitable habitat).

#### 2.5. Model building

#### 2.5.1. Sensitivity analyses

A base case model was constructed for each order using all 10 environmental variables on the 500 m-by-500 m grid in the study area. The results of the models for each order were subjected to a set of sensitivity analyses to determine how dependent those results were on (1) the spatial resolution of data, (2) the depth cutoff of the study area, (3) the removal of correlated environmental layers, and (4) the removal of modelled data. The default parameter settings were tested with independent trials using the coral data. The Maxent defaults produced the best predictions (see Appendix 1 for details on

parameter optimization), therefore, in all cases, the default parameter settings were used. In addition to the 500 m-by-500 m grid resolution, models were also constructed using a 10 km by 10 km grid to determine whether the fine-scale information was significantly better. Coral records with coarser resolution (up to 10 km) were included in these models. The larger grid cells and additional records resulted in 118 unique locations for Alcyonacea, 44 for Antipatharia, 102 for Pennatulacea, and 45 for Scleractinia (Table 2). Models with a depth cutoff of 200 m, 500 m, 2000 m and 2800 m were created to test for the influence of the size of the study area on the results as well as the potential deterioration of environmental data quality further from shore. The number of coral records used in the models for each depth cutoff are listed in Table 2. The model's sensitivity to correlation among pairs of environmental variables was tested in two ways: first by removing environmental layers that were moderately correlated (Pearson's r > 0.75) and then by removing only those that were very highly correlated (r > 0.90) (see Figure A2.1 and Table A2.1 in Appendix 2 for results of correlation analyses and information on which layers were removed). The model's sensitivity to a possible influence of modelled data was tested by first removing all modelled environmental data (i.e., temperature, salinity, current, and tidal speeds) leaving only measured data, and then by removing only the ocean current and tidal data layers.

The Maxent models could not be tested for sensitivity to spatial autocorrelation in either the coral records or the environmental data. Spatial autocorrelation occurs when locations that are close to one another are more similar than those that are farther away. Standard statistical analyses assume that residuals are independent and identically distributed. If spatial autocorrelation is not accounted for, this assumption will be

violated, resulting in potentially biased parameter estimates and an increase in false positives (Type I error). Several methods exist to account for spatial autocorrelation when presence and absence data are available; however, no such methods exist when only presence data are available (Dormann et al. 2007), as is the case with this analysis.

#### 2.5.2. Performance measures

Many evaluation techniques for SDMs require continuous maps of probability of presence of a taxon to be converted into categorical maps indicating predicted presence or absence. In these situations, a threshold value must be selected as the cutoff between a location predicting the presence of the species and one predicting absence. Selecting an appropriate threshold can be difficult when only presence data are available. The area under the curve (AUC) of the receiver operating characteristic (ROC) is a commonly used threshold-independent measure of model accuracy (Fielding and Bell 1997) and was used here to evaluate results of sensitivity analyses. The ROC curve is obtained by plotting all sensitivity values (i.e., the proportion of observed occurrences that are correctly predicted, i.e., power, or the true positive fraction) on the y axis against their corresponding (1 - specificity) values (the proportion of absences incorrectly predicted as present, i.e.,  $\alpha$ , or the false positive fraction) for all available thresholds. The AUC thus provides a single number to evaluate the performance of a model that is independent of threshold selection (Phillips et al. 2006). The AUC is a measure of predictive accuracy and can have values ranging from 1.0 (indicating perfect distinction between presence and absence) to 0.5 (indicating a model that is no better than random). Though originally designed for presence and absence data, the AUC can be adapted for use with presenceonly data by replacing absences with a random sample of background locations, or

pseudo-absences (Phillips et al. 2006). This changes the interpretation of the AUC so that it becomes the probability that the habitat suitability assigned to a randomly chosen presence site will be higher than that of randomly chosen background site (Phillips et al. 2006). For example, an AUC value of 0.75 indicates that 75% of the time a randomly selected presence location will have a higher habitat suitability score than a random background point. When used with presence-only data, the maximum achievable AUC is no longer 1, but is instead 1-a/2, where *a* is the fraction of grid cells that the species' distribution covers (Wiley et al. 2003). Typically the value of *a* is unknown, so it is not possible to determine the optimal AUC score. Nevertheless, larger scores indicate better predictive performance. In addition to AUC, results of the sensitivity analyses were evaluated using log loss values.

When constructing base case models and models for the sensitivity analyses, the data for each order of coral were randomly partitioned 10 times with 60% of the data selected for training, and the remaining 40% reserved for testing. The data were partitioned 10 times rather than once to assess the average performance of each model (Phillips et al. 2008) and to allow for statistical testing of differences in the AUC and log loss using two-sided Wilcoxon rank-sum tests (Tittensor et al. 2009).

#### 2.5.3. Final models

The final model for each coral order was constructed using the default parameter settings. All presence locations within the study area were included in the construction of the final model (as opposed to the 60% used to develop the models used in the sensitivity analyses) and thus contributed to estimating the corals' distribution. The contribution of each environmental variable to a model's fit to the data on presence of corals was

evaluated using Maxent's built-in heuristic estimate of variable contribution. However, due to the high level of correlation between many of the environmental variables, it was difficult to ascertain the relative importance of each variable in determining habitat suitability. Therefore, these results should be interpreted with caution.

The final predictive maps of habitat suitability for cold-water corals off the BC coast were divided into areas predicted to have a high probability of suitable coral habitat (predicted suitable habitat) and areas predicted to have a low probability of suitable coral habitat (predicted unsuitable habitat) to facilitate statistical analyses of the overlap with fishing effort. Maps were divided using the maximum sum of sensitivity-plus-specificity threshold value calculated for each order. The maximum sum of sensitivity-plusspecificity threshold is equivalent to finding the point on the ROC where the slope of the tangent line equals 1 (Cantor et al. 1999). This threshold was selected for its relative insensitivity to prevalence (i.e. the proportion of the study area with occurrence data) (Liu et al. 2005; Jiménez-Valverde and Lobo 2007), which is particularly important in this study due to the use of presence-only data. When building models with presence-only data, a large number of background points is required to capture the environmental variation in the study area. This results in extremely low prevalence values (Phillips et al. 2006). For example, the largest sample of coral for any order contains only 121 presence localities. This results in a prevalence of only 1.2% (when the default of 10,000 background points is used), making it important to select a threshold that is relatively insensitive to prevalence.

An error matrix derived from the binomial map for each order was used to calculate several test statistics to evaluate the predictive performance of the model. This

matrix or contingency table typically records the frequencies of each of the four types of prediction: (a) true positives; (b) false positives; (c) false negatives; and (d) true negatives. In the present study, only presence records are available, so it was not possible to determine the false positive and true negative values. However, the error matrix was used to calculate, for each order, the true positive rate (cases in which coral occurred and were predicted to occur) and the false negative rate (cases in which coral occurred but was not predicted to occur).

#### 2.5.4. Significance testing

Null models were used to test for significance of the Maxent models according to the method suggested by Raes and ter Steege (2007). To do this, 999 null models were constructed for each coral order using randomly selected locations (without replacement) from the study area. The number of random points used to construct the null models was equal to the actual number of presence points for each order of coral. The AUC values of the null models were then compared to that of the model constructed using all available coral presence data. The 95% confidence intervals were calculated by ranking the AUC scores of the 999 null models and selecting the  $25^{\text{th}}$  and  $974^{\text{th}}$  values (999 x 2.5% = 25; 999 x 97.5% = 974). Maxent models with higher AUC values than the upper confidence limit indicate that the correlations between localities where the order was present and the values of the environmental variables deviate from correlations that would have occurred by chance alone (Raes and ter Steege 2007). Models with lower AUC values than the lower confidence interval indicate that the relationships that the Maxent model is predicting between presence localities and environmental variables provides worse-thanrandom predictions of coral presence.

This method assumes that the original sampling design was randomly distributed over the entire study area and was not subject to any collection or environmental bias. This is unlikely to be the case with the cold-water coral data because surveyed areas will likely be concentrated close to shore, in areas of particular research interest (e.g. the shelf break), and in areas being fished. Raes and ter Steege (2007) and Dudík et al. (2005) propose a method for correcting for this bias when constructing the null models by estimating the sampling distribution of the original data. The randomly selected points for the null models are then only drawn from within that sampling distribution. Unfortunately, there is insufficient information to estimate the sampling distribution in this case and therefore the sampling bias cannot be accounted for in the construction of species distribution model quality than simply using a subjective threshold, such as AUC  $\geq 0.5$  (Raes and ter Steege 2007).

#### **2.6.** Fishing data

Spatially explicit data on effort in the commercial groundfish trawl, sablefish trap, and sablefish longline fisheries between 1996 and 2004 were obtained from a database maintained by Fisheries and Oceans Canada (DFO 2006b). The trawl data include information on both bottom and mid-water trawls (excluding mid-water hake trawls). Mid-water trawls are most effective when conducted very close to the sea floor, so it is likely that the impacts of this fishery on benthic fauna are similar to those of bottom trawling (Rogers et al. 2008). Data on fishing effort were provided on a 4 km-by-4 km grid. To protect the privacy of fishermen, data were binned over all years, and at least three vessels had to record activity in a grid cell for it to be reported. Grid cells contained

information on cumulative fishing effort for each fleet (measured in hours trawled, traps set, or number of hooks). For ease of calculation, all 500 m-by-500 m cells falling within 4 km-by-4 km fishery grid cells were assigned the same values as larger cells. The values of the smaller cells should therefore be considered as rates per 16 km<sup>2</sup> rather than per 0.25 km<sup>2</sup>. Potential overlap between bottom-contact fishing activities and coral habitat were evaluated by calculating the proportion of cells in areas of predicted habitat exposed to some level of fishing activity.

# **3. RESULTS**

#### **3.1.** Distribution of coral

Records of alcyonacean corals were primarily concentrated along the continental slope, with approximately 40 records in the central and northern parts of Queen Charlotte Sound, and about 20 in the Strait of Georgia (Figure 2a). Records ranged in depth from 14 m to 2304 m and represented 8 families and 13 genera (Table 4). Records of antipatharian corals were nearly exclusively found along the continental slope (Figure 2b) and ranged in depth from 40 m to 2273 m. The Antipatharia records represented 3 families and 9 genera (Table 4). Records of pennatulaceans were also concentrated along the continental slope, with approximately 20 located in northeastern waters (Hecate Strait and Chatham Sound) (Figure 2c). Records ranged in depth from 22 m to 2158 m and represented 9 families and 9 genera (Table 4). Scleractinian coral records were dispersed throughout the study area, with records found along the continental slope, in Chatham Sound, Hecate Strait, Queen Charlotte Sound and the Strait of Georgia (Figure 2d). Records ranged in depth from 14 m to 2158 m and represented 3 families and 4 genera (Table 4).

#### **3.2.** Sensitivity analyses

While there was variation in results of the sensitivity analyses, models were generally insensitive to the spatial resolution of the data, depth cutoff, removal of layers of environmental variables that were correlated among themselves, and removal of modelled data. The main exceptions were for models built using a depth cutoff of

2800 m. When using the AUC as the evaluation metric, models with a depth threshold of 2800 m performed significantly better than the default case for all orders (2450 m) (Alcyonacea: p < 0.00001; Antipatharia: p = 0.028; Pennatulacea: p = 0.007; Scleractinia: p = 0.007). When using log loss as the evaluation metric, the models with the deeper cutoff performed significantly better than the default case for all orders except Antipatharia (Alcyonacea: p < 0.00001; Pennatulacea: p = 0.002; Scleractinia: p = 0.043).

These results, however, may be misleading. When used with presence-only data, the AUC is interpreted as the probability that habitat suitability assigned to a randomly selected cell containing an occurrence record is higher than that of a randomly selected background cell. When the study area is extended to include deeper waters where corals have not been found (the deepest coral record used in the analysis was found at 2302 m), there is a greater likelihood that the randomly drawn background cell used to construct the ROC will be drawn from those deeper waters where coral habitat suitability is low, thus artificially inflating the AUC value.

There were several other significant differences when log loss was used as the evaluation metric. The model built with a depth cutoff of 200 m was significantly better for Pennatulacea (p = 0.023), and models built with the data on a 10 km-by-10 km grid were significantly better for all orders except Scleractinia (Alcyonacea: p < 0.0001; Antipatharia: p < 0.0001; Pennatulacea: p < 0.0001). Note that due to the number of sensitivity analyses conducted (16 for each order), it is reasonable to expect there to be one or two significant differences by chance alone.

#### **3.3.** Final models

The AUC values of the final models for the four taxonomic orders were all significantly higher than the median AUC of the null models (final model AUC > upper 95% CI of null model) (Table 5), thus the relationship between the orders' presence localities and environmental variables are not random (Raes and ter Steege 2007). The final models also all had high true positive and low false negative rates (Table 5), indicating that the Maxent models have good predictive capabilities.

#### 3.3.1. Alcyonacea

Areas predicted by the final model as being suitable habitat for Alcyonacea were mostly concentrated along the shelf break, particularly in the northern and southern extents of the study area, and in the Goose Island, Moresby, and Mitchell's Gullies projecting into Queen Charlotte Sound (Figure 3a). Summer salinity contributed most to explaining the variation in location of Alcyonacea (27%), followed by spring chlorophyll *a* concentration (20%), winter salinity (14%), summer current speed (14%), summer temperature (12%), and depth (7%) (Figure 3a). Winter temperature, slope, tidal speed and winter current speed explained only a small proportion of variation in the data.

#### 3.3.2. Antipatharia

Predicted suitable habitat for the order Antipatharia was identified primarily on the shelf break (Figure 3b). Depth explained the greatest proportion of variability in the model of habitat suitability (61%) followed by summer current speed (28%) (Figure 3b). The other environmental variables each explained less than 4% of the variation in the data.

#### 3.3.3. Pennatulacea

Predicted suitable habitat for pennatulacean corals was identified primarily along the shelf break, with patches located along the mainland and to the west of Vancouver Island (Figure 3c). The Maxent model for these corals was largely based on tidal speed (30%), and depth (22%) (Figure 3c). Other important environmental variables include summer salinity (10%), summer temperature (10%) and winter salinity (9%). The remaining variables each contributed less than 6% to the model.

#### 3.3.4. Scleractinia

For the order Scleractinia, predicted suitable habitat was identified along the shelf break in the southern extent of the study area, throughout the Strait of Georgia and Queen Charlotte Sound, around the Queen Charlotte Islands, Chatham Sound, and in the northwestern extent of the study area (Figure 3d). Spring chlorophyll *a* concentration contributed the most to the model (33%) (Figure 3d). Depth, tidal speed, and summer current speed all contributed similar amounts (21, 20, and 18%, respectively). Other variables each explained less than 4% of variability.

#### **3.4.** Potential fishing overlap

Trawl fishing effort is distributed throughout the study area landward of the shelf break and occurs in 41,721 km<sup>2</sup> (25.1%) of the study area (Figure 4a). The cumulative trawling intensity over the nine year study period (1996-2004) ranges from 3 to 44,851 hours of trawling/16 km<sup>2</sup>, with a median value of 769.6 hours of fishing/16 km<sup>2</sup> (Table 6). Median values are reported rather than means because the data are not normally distributed. Trawl activity has occurred in 22.2 - 37.5% of predicted suitable habitat for the four orders of coral (Table 7). Trawl fishing has occurred in a disproportionately larger area of the predicted suitable habitat of three of the coral orders studied than it does in the total study area (Figure 5). For example, trawling has occurred in 25.1% of the total study area, yet it has occurred in 35.7% of the area in which the final Maxent model predicted suitable habitat for Alcyonacea (Figure 5). The exception to this disproportionally higher intensity of fishing in coral habitat is the order Antipatharia, which are more likely to occur in deeper parts of the shelf break where trawlers do not yet go.

The sablefish trap and longline fisheries cover substantially less area than the groundfish trawl fishery. The trap fishery occurs in 11,829 km<sup>2</sup> (7.1%) of the study area, while the longline fishery occupies 8,318 km<sup>2</sup> (5.0%) of the study area. The effort in both fisheries is concentrated along the shelf break (Figure 4b and 4c). Cumulative fishing effort over the nine year study period ranges from 125 to 63,531 traps/16 km<sup>2</sup> (median: 1,652 traps/16 km<sup>2</sup>) for the trap fishery and from 800 to 763,675 hooks/16 km<sup>2</sup> (median: 16,900 hooks/16 km<sup>2</sup>) for the longline fishery (Table 6).

The sablefish trap fishery occurs in 15.3 - 27.4% of predicted coral habitat, whereas the longline fishery occurs in 7.2 - 14.5% of predicted habitat (Table 7). As with the groundfish trawl fishery, effort in the trap and longline fisheries is disproportionately concentrated in areas of predicted suitable coral habitat (Figure 5).

Combined, the three fisheries cover  $47,330 \text{ km}^2$  (28.4%) of the study area, and occur in 30.4 - 46.5% of predicted suitable coral habitat (Table 7). Thus, bottom-contact

fishing generally occurs with disproportionately greater frequency in areas of predicted suitable coral habitat than in the entire study area (Figure 5).

Areas of overlap between predicted suitable habitat and bottom-contact fishing activity as well as areas that may contain pristine coral aggregations are highlighted in Figure 6 for each of the four coral orders considered. For all orders of coral and types of fishing there is a significant, though weak, correlation between the intensity of fishing activity and the predicted suitability of habitat (Spearman's *rho*: -0.19 and 0.24, p < 0.001in all cases).

## 4. DISCUSSION

This study represents the first attempt to use species distribution models (SDMs) to predict suitable habitat for several orders of cold-water corals and identify areas that may have been exposed to bottom-contact fishing. Even with limited data, distributions of coral in the orders Alcyonacea, Antipatharia, Pennatulacea, and Scleractinia along the coast of BC were predicted by Maxent and were robust to the spatial resolution of environmental variables, omission of correlated environmental variables, depth cutoff, and exclusion of modelled (as opposed to directly observed) variables. Depending on the taxonomic order, overlap of predicted suitable coral habitat and areas of all types of bottom-contact fishing was estimated to be between 30.4 and 46.5%. This study has demonstrated the utility of using SDMs to predict the distribution of cold-water corals and to identify areas of potential overlap between predicted suitable habitat and known threats. These results can guide future scientific research on locations of coral and help managers make more informed policy and conservation decisions both within Canada and internationally.

## 4.1. Predicted suitable habitat

In general, suitable habitat for the four coral orders examined here was predicted to occur primarily along the shelf break, and in the Malcolm Island, Goose, and Mitchell's Gullies. These results are supported by earlier findings by Bryan and Metaxas (2007) and Ardron and Jamieson (2006). Bryan and Metaxas (2007) used ENFA to predict the distribution of two families of alcyonacean coral, the Paragorgiidae and the
Primnoidae, in BC. The suitable habitat they identified was primarily found along the shelf break. Suitable habitat for the Primnoidae was also identified in Dixon Entrance and in the gullies projecting into Queen Charlotte Sound. The areas predicted for the Alcyonacea in the present study generally follow the same patterns of distribution as those predicted by Bryan and Metaxas (2007), although the current predictions encompass slightly more area along the continental shelf break and less area in Queen Charlotte Sound and Dixon Entrance. In methodological contrast, Ardron and Jamieson (2006) performed a density analysis on bycatch data from the BC groundfish trawl, which were not used in this study, to identify 12 areas of high coral and sponge concentration (Figure 7). Of those 12 areas, three are known to be locations of hexactinellid sponge reefs (areas 4, 6, and 8). Seven of the remaining nine areas identified in their analysis correspond to areas predicted by the current analysis as predicted suitable habitat for at least one order of coral (areas 3, 5, 7, 9, 10, 11, and 12 in Figure 7). The remaining two areas (areas 1 and 2 in Dixon Entrance and Chatham Sound) overlap with some areas identified as predicted suitable habitat, although the majority of the area was predicted as unsuitable. The discrepancy could be the result of areas 1 and 2 identifying concentrations of sponges rather than corals (as is the case with the sponge reef areas), or the Maxent models' failure to identify those areas as coral habitat.

### 4.2. Contribution of environmental variables

Strong correlation between pairs of environmental variables makes it difficult to determine the relative importance of each variable in contributing to the distribution of cold-water corals in BC. The variables used in this study were not only correlated with each other, but they may also be highly correlated with other variables that were not

included due to a lack of data. Some variables that were not included, such as bottom type, dissolved oxygen, nutrient concentrations, and aragonite saturation, may have a greater role in controlling the distribution of cold-water corals than variables that were considered. Nevertheless, Maxent's built-in heuristic estimate of the contribution of each variable provides an approximation of the relative importance of each environmental variable in explaining the distribution of each order of coral.

Of the environmental variables considered, depth and summer current speeds appeared most frequently among the most important variables explaining spatial distribution across all four orders of coral. Depth per se is likely to be of little direct ecological consequence. However, it is a correlate with a suite of environmental variables, such as temperature, salinity, dissolved oxygen, and aragonite saturation, which have been shown to have a direct effect on the distribution of corals (Clark et al. 2006; Bryan and Metaxas 2007; Davies et al. 2008; Tittensor et al. 2009). Unfortunately, some of these variables could not be considered here because of a lack of data. It is likely that the importance of depth in all the models is due to high levels of correlation with other biologically significant variables that may or may not have been considered in this study.

Summer current speed explained a relatively large amount of the variation in the location of cold-water corals in all four models. Earlier studies that used ENFA to describe the distribution of two families of alcyonacea corals (Bryan and Metaxas 2007) and a species of Scleractinia (Davies et al. 2008), as well as a study using ENFA and Maxent to model the distribution of Scleractinia on seamounts (Tittensor et al. 2009), also found that higher current speed is an important predictor of suitable cold-water coral habitat. Current strength is known to be important to cold-water corals because it affects

the rate at which food is supplied (Thiem et al. 2006) and can influence recruitment and colonization (Genin et al. 1986). Interestingly, winter current speed was a relatively unimportant predictor in all models, and tidal speed was only important for Scleractinia. In this study, the median summer current speed was lower than that of winter current speed (Figure A2.5 and Figure A2.6). Summer current speed may therefore have acted as a limiting factor for coral distribution (by restricting the food supply or larval dispersion, for example), thus making it more important in the models than winter current speed. Tidal speed decreases as depth increases. Tidal speed may therefore have been more influential in the model for Scleractinia due to the much shallower distribution of that order relative to the others (Figure A2.2).

Surface chlorophyll *a* concentration was a relatively important correlate of the distribution of the orders Alcyonacea and Scleractinia, but not of Antipatharia and Pennatulacea. Previous modelling studies of cold-water alcyonacean (Bryan and Metaxas 2007) and scleractinian distribution (Davies et al. 2008; Tittensor et al. 2009) also found chlorophyll *a* concentration to be an important determinant in the distribution of those types of coral. A stable isotope analysis conducted on several species of cold-water coral on the east coast of Canada found that different corals feed at a variety of trophic levels ranging from fresh phytodetritus to primarily carnivorous diets (Sherwood et al. 2008). Sherwood et al. (2008) speculate that substratum type likely exerts a large influence on the diet of cold-water corals by influencing the type and availability of suspended foods. For example, rocky substrata (preferred by Alcyonacea, Antipatharia and Scleractinia) can focus currents and provide an increased supply of fresh phytodetritus (Thiem et al. 2006), whereas areas with softer substrates (preferred by Pennatulacea) tend to have

slower currents and larger amounts of resuspended material. The deep distribution of Antipatharia in this study (median = 1128m; Figure A2.2) likely negates any linkages to surface chlorophyll *a* concentration. These differences in substratum preferences and depth distributions potentially account for the greater importance of chlorophyll *a* in predicting the distribution of Alcyonacea and Scleractinia, but not for Antipatharia and Pennatulacea.

Slope, used here as a proxy for bottom type, contributed relatively little information to the four models. At the scale used in this study, slope was probably able to capture some large-scale benthic features. However, the relatively low importance of this environmental variable in the four models probably indicates that the scale of measurement was too coarse to identify smaller-scale features such as ridges, boulders, and patches of soft sediment. As mentioned above, hard features are likely to be excellent predictors of suitable habitat for Alcyonacea, Antipatharia, and Scleractinia, while the Pennatulacea may be expected to be found in areas of softer substrata are (Hourigan et al. 2007; Chia and Crawford 1973). Future attempts to model coral habitat would benefit from the inclusion of more detailed bottom type information as it becomes available.

Effects of temperature and salinity on the distribution of cold-water corals are not clearly understood (Freiwald et al. 2004). In their analysis of the distribution of two families of alcyonacean coral, Bryan and Metaxas (2007) found lower than average temperature to be a relatively important predictor of the distribution of these corals in the Pacific. Conversely, Davies et al. (2008) and Tittensor et al. (2009) found that the Scleractinia they studied exhibited a preference for above-average annual mean

temperatures. Davies et al. (2008) found temperature to be good predictors of the distribution of *Lophelia pertusa*, while Tittensor et al. (2009) did not find temperature to be a strong predictor of the distribution of Scleractinia on seamounts. In the Maxent models developed here, it was found that winter temperature was relatively unimportant predictor for all orders, and summer temperature was important in the Alcyonacea and Pennatulacea models (as Bryan and Metaxas 2007 found), but not important in the Antipatharia and Scleractinia models (as Tittensor et al. 2009 found). As with previous studies, the Alcyonacea coral studied here seem to exhibit a preference for below average temperatures, while the Scleractinia seem to prefer above average temperatures (Figure A2.10 and Figure A2.11).

As with temperature, both Davies et al. (2008) and Tittensor et al. (2009) found that the scleractinian corals they studied exhibited a preference for higher than average annual mean values for salinity. Again, as with temperature, Davies et al. (2008) found salinity to be a good predictor of the distribution of *Lophelia pertusa*, while Tittensor et al. (2009) did not. Bryan and Metaxas (2007) did not include salinity in their analysis. This study found that summer and winter salinity were important in explaining the distribution of Alcyonacea and Pennatulacea, but were relatively unimportant for Antipatharia and Scleractinia (as Tittensor et al. 2009 found). In contrast to the previous studies, this study found that Scleractinia in BC seem to prefer slightly less saline waters than average (Figure A2.8 and Figure A2.9). This discrepancy could be due to speciesspecific habitat preferences. For example, Davies et al. (2008) examined *Lophelia pertusa*, which has not been found in BC, whereas the Scleractinia studied here were all shallow-water cup corals. In addition to their impact on coral physiology, temperature and salinity may have an indirect influence through their role in the stratification of water, or they may be correlated with other important variables that were not included.

#### **4.3.** Overlap with bottom-contact fishing

The overlap between predicted suitable coral habitat identified in this study and bottom-contact fisheries in BC is substantial. Depending on the coral, bottom-contact fisheries overlap with between 30.4 and 46.5% of predicted suitable habitat coral habitat. Fishing effort was disproportionately concentrated in areas of predicted suitable coral habitat relative to the entire study area, and there was a very small but significant correlation between the intensity of fishing and habitat suitability. These estimates of overlap are similar to those of other studies that have attempted to quantify the proportion of cold-water coral habitat impacted by fishing. In Norway, Fosså et al. (2002) estimated the extent of damage caused by bottom trawling on *Lophelia pertusa* reefs (order Scleractinia) using literature, fishermen's knowledge, and remotely operated vehicle (ROV) surveys. They estimated that 30 to 50% of the *Lophelia pertusa* reef areas have been damaged by trawling. Stone (2006) used a submersible to observe coral habitat in Alaska and found that 39% of the total area of the sea floor observed had been disturbed by bottom-contact fishing gear.

An important caveat must be borne in mind when considering the current estimates of overlap between predicted suitable coral habitat and bottom-contact fishing. As mentioned in the Methods section, a DFO privacy policy made it necessary to aggregate fishing data so that at least three vessels passed through the same grid cell during the study period (1996-2004). This restriction forced a trade-off between capturing more of the effort (i.e., being able to include more vessels) and overestimating

the area fished (i.e., larger grid cells). The data were provided on a 4 km-by-4 km grid. At this coarse resolution it is likely that the actual footprint of the fisheries is overestimated. For example, using only bottom trawl records from 1996-2005 with no restrictions due to privacy concerns or the 2450 m depth cutoff used to define the study area in the present analysis, Sinclair (2007) determined that with a 5 km by 5 km grid, the estimated area impacted by trawling was 30,000 km<sup>2</sup>. However, with a 1 km<sup>2</sup> grid, the estimated fished area was reduced by 37% to 19,000 km<sup>2</sup>. The 4 km grid used in this study (which includes both bottom and mid-water trawls) results in an estimated fished area of approximately 43,000 km<sup>2</sup> when the study area depth restriction (i.e. the 2450 m depth cutoff) is removed. Thus, consideration of these large differences in the fishing footprint are particularly important when results are used to estimate the proportion of coral habitat impacted by fishing activity (Sinclair 2007).

Even if the estimates of spatial overlap between predicted suitable coral habitat and bottom-contact fishing generated here are overestimated, cold-water coral are intrinsically vulnerable to impacts from bottom-contact fishing when overlap occurs. There is much empirical evidence demonstrating that cold-water coral are substantially damaged by bottom-contact fishing. Substantial damage to, and removal of, these corals by fishing activities has been documented in BC (Ardron and Jamieson 2006), Alaska (Krieger 2001; Stone 2006), the north-east Atlantic (Waller et al. 2007), on seamounts in Australia (Koslow et al. 2001) and New Zealand (Probert et al. 1997), and off the coast of Norway (Fosså et al. 2002). In fact, FAO guidelines specifically identify Alcyonacea, Antipatharia, and Scleractinia as sensitive and potentially vulnerable to fishing activities (FAO 2008). The flexibility of most pennatulaceans may make them less vulnerable to

fishing gear, though there are still reports of them being damaged and physically removed by traps in BC (Troffe et al. 2005) and trawling in New Zealand (Probert et al. 1997). The capacity of cold-water corals to recover from damage is relatively low due to their long generation time (e.g. 15 - 25 years for a family of alcyonacean coral (Grigg 1976) and 10 - 31 years for some antipatharians (Parker et al. 1997; Grigg 1976)) and longevity (e.g. nearly 50 years for some pennatulaceans (Adkins et al. 2004) and more than 100 years for some scleractinians (Grigg 1976)). Surveys in areas where trawling has not occurred for several years reveal little evidence of coral recolonization and recovery (Kreiger 2001; Waller et al. 2007). If the extent of damage is great enough, and gametes from other sources cannot recolonize an impacted area, recovery may take decades, if it happens at all (Freiwald et al. 2004).

Cold-water corals in BC waters are currently unprotected. The World Conservation Union (IUCN) Red List Categories and Criteria assess the status of species at high risk of global extinction (IUCN 2001). The Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada (COSEWIC) has a complementary assessment process based on the IUCN criteria designed to provide advice regarding the status of Canadian species nationally at risk of extinction or extirpation (COSEWIC 2009). The absence of high-quality data should not deter attempts to apply the assessment criteria, and indeed methods involving estimation, inference and projection are emphasised as being acceptable (IUCN 2001). In fact, taxa that are poorly known can often be assigned a threat category on the basis of background information concerning the deterioration of their habitat (IUCN 2001).

This study is not intended to be a report on the status of cold-water coral in BC. A full evaluation using the IUCN or COSEWIC criteria needs to be completed before a recommendation can be made regarding the conservation status of corals. However, the IUCN and COSEWIC criteria can be used here to put the level of overlap between predicted suitable coral habitat and bottom-contact fishing into the context of internationally recognized and applied conservation status criteria.

According to the IUCN and COSEWIC criteria, a taxon can be listed as vulnerable (IUCN) or threatened (COSEWIC) if there is "an observed, estimated, inferred or suspected population size reduction of  $\geq$  30% over the last 10 years or 3 generations, whichever is the longer, where the reduction or its causes may not have ceased or may not be understood or may not be reversible, based on...a decline in index of area of occupancy, extent of occurrence and/or quality of habitat." (IUCN 2001). Bottomcontact fishing in BC has not ceased and will continue to occur, and perhaps expand, in the foreseeable future. Given the vulnerability of cold-water corals to bottom-contact fishing (e.g. Krieger 2001; Stone 2006; Waller et al. 2007; Koslow et al. 2001; Probert et al. 1997; Fosså et al. 2002; Troffe et al. 2005), it is reasonable to assume that contact with fishing gear will result in a reduction in population size and therefore a reduction in area of occupancy. Corals are not uniformly distributed throughout their area of occupancy, and the type and intensity of fishing activity will influence the extent of damage to and mortality of coral. It is therefore unlikely that the reduction in population size caused by bottom-contact fishing is linearly related to the area fished. Thus, estimates of overlap can only be used as a coarse proxy for reduction in population size at this time. In the nine-year period between 1996 and 2004, an estimated 30.4 to 46.5 % of predicted

suitable coral habitat potentially came into contact with bottom-contact fishing gear. For three of the orders examined, Alcyonacea, Pennatulacea, and Scleractinia, the estimate of potential overlap is over 40% (46.5, 46.2, and 41.9% respectively). Although an area being fished does not necessarily equal an area cleared of corals, the estimates of potential overlap, and by proxy, estimates of potential population reduction, are above the 30% metric used to list a taxon as vulnerable (IUCN) or threatened (COSEWIC), even if we allow error margins of  $\pm$  10%. This high degree of overlap strongly suggests that cold-water corals in BC are being put at risk by bottom-contact fishing, and precautionary measures, such as spatial gear restrictions, need to be considered to ensure they are protected.

### 4.4. Conclusions

This study demonstrates the utility of using species distribution models to predict suitable coral habitat and identify areas that overlap with known threats. The patterns of coral distribution predicted by the models are largely consistent with known distribution patterns in Pacific Canada as well as patterns predicted by other methods (Bryan and Metaxas 2007; Ardron and Jamieson 2006). Estimates of the extent of overlap between predicted suitable coral habitat and bottom-contact fishing are substantial. The results presented here strongly suggest that cold-water coral habitat in BC requires protection from fishing activity to guarantee the long-term viability of coral populations.

Although these models appear to provide good predictions of the location of coral on the BC coast, refinement of the models can be achieved by increasing coral sample sizes and including additional environmental variables. Small sample sizes, resulting in part from species identification issues, prevented species-level distribution modelling

because data had to be aggregated to the level of taxonomic order. Corals are encountered regularly during both research and fishing activities, but they are not always reported, correctly identified, geo-referenced, or entered into an accessible database. Improved reporting of coral sightings and bycatch on both research and commercial vessels would greatly increase the number of usable records of coral locations. The measurement and inclusion of additional environmental variables, most notably bottom type, dissolved oxygen, nutrient concentrations, and aragonite saturation, could provide additional information and improve model predictions.

Fishing data used in this study were rather coarse due to a DFO privacy policy. Finer-scale or exact locations of fishing effort would improve identification of areas that are vulnerable to impacts from bottom-contact fishing and more accurately inform an assessment of the conservation status of coral in BC.

Future research efforts need to focus on testing predictions of this study by ground-truthing with new surveys. As well, field comparisons should be made between areas that are predicted to have come into contact with bottom-contact fishing and those predicted to be untouched to evaluate the impact of fishing on coral.

Results presented here show a large overlap between predicted suitable coral habitat and bottom-contact fishing in BC, and suggest that the long-term viability of these coral populations may be threatened. Canada has national and international obligations to protect cold-water corals, but has yet to provide such protection in BC. The UN has called for a stop to bottom trawling in areas where vulnerable marine ecosystems are known to occur, and to ensure that destructive fishing does not continue until conservation and management measures have been established. A full status report on all

orders of cold-water coral in BC and Canada is needed to assess their conservation status so that appropriate protective measures can be taken. Until such assessments can be made, Canada should take a proactive and precautionary approach to cold-water coral conservation so that these important and vulnerable marine ecosystems are not irreparably damaged. In the absence of spatial or gear restrictions designed to protect coral, continued bottom-contact fishing in BC will result in continued damage to coral habitat.

### **REFERENCE LIST**

- Adkins, J.F., Henderson, G.M., Wang, W., O'Shea, S., and Mokadem, F. 2004. Growth rates of the deep-sea Scleractinia *Desmophyllum cristagalli* and *Enallopsammia rostrata*. Earth Planetary Sci. Lett., **227**: 481-490.
- Ardron, J.A., Jamieson, G.S. 2006. Reducing bycatch of corals and sponges in British Columbia's groundfish trawl fishery through trawl fishery closures. Canadian Science Advisory Secretariat Research Document 2006/061.
- Bryan, T.L., and Metaxas, A. 2007. Predicting suitable habitat for deep-water gorgonian corals on the Atlantic and Pacific continental margins of North America. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser., 330: 113-126.
- CBD (Convention on Biological Diversity) 2006. COP 8 Decision VIII/21: Marine and coastal biological diversity: conservation and sustainable use of deep seabed genetic resources beyond the limits of national jurisdiction. Available from http://www.cbd.int/decision/cop/?id=11035
- CBD (Convention on Biological Diversity) 2008. Synthesis and review of the best available scientific studies on priority areas for biodiversity conservation in marine areas beyond the limits of national jurisdiction. Available from http://www.cbd.int/doc/meetings/sbstta/sbstta-13/information/sbstta-13-inf-11-en.pdf
- Chia, F.S., and Crawford, B.J. 1973. Some observations on gametogenesis, larval development, and substratum selection of the sea pen *Ptilosarcus guerneyi*. Mar. Bio. (Berlin), 23: 73-82.
- Clark, M., Tittensor, D.P., Rogers, A., Brewin, P., Schlacher, T., Rowden, A., Stocks, K., and Consalvey, M. 2006. Seamounts, deep-sea corals and fisheries: vulnerability of deep-sea corals to fishing on seamounts beyond areas of national jurisdiction. UNEP-WCMC, Cambridge.
- Collie, J.S., Escanero, G.A., and Valentine, P.C. 1997. Effects of bottom fishing on the benthic megafauna of Georges Bank. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser., **155**: 159-172.
- Conway, K.W., Barrie, J.V., Hill, P.R., Austin, W.C., and Picard, K. 2007. Mapping sensitive benthic habitats in the Strait of Georgia, coastal British Columbia: deepwater sponge and coral reefs. Geological Survey of Canada, Current Research 2007-A2.

- COSEWIC (Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife In Canada) 2009. COSEWIC's Assessment Process and Criteria. Available from http://www.cosewic.gc.ca/pdf/assessment process e.pdf
- Davies, A.J., Wisshak, M., Orr, J.C., and Roberts, J.M. 2008. Predicting suitable habitat for the cold-water coral *Lophelia pertusa* (Scleractinia). Deep-Sea Res., 55: 1048-1062.
- DeLong, E.R., DeLong, D.M., and Clarke-Pearson, D.L. 1988. Comparing the areas under two or more correlated receiver operating characteristic curves: a nonparametric approach. Biometrics, 44: 837-845.
- DFO (Fisheries and Oceans Canada) 2006a. Coral Conservation Plan: Maritimes Region 2006-2010. Oceans and Coastal Management Report 2006-01.
- DFO (Fisheries and Oceans Canada) 2006b. Aggregated Groundfish Trawl Catch and Effort 1996-2004. February 2006. Series: PNCIMA. Contact: Sean MacConnachie, Pacific Biological Station, Nanaimo, BC.
- DFO (Fisheries and Oceans Canada) 2009. Status report on cold-water corals and sponges in Canada (Draft). Canadian Manuscript Report of Oceans, Habitat and Species at Risk.
- Dormann, C.F., McPherson, J.M., Araújo, M.B., Bivand, R., Bolliger, J., Carl, G., Davies, R.G., Hirzel, A., Jetz, W., Kissling, W.D., Kühn, I., Ohlemüller, R., Peres-Neto, P.R., Reineking, B., Schröder, B., Schurr, F.M., and Wilson, R. 2007. Methods to account for spatial autocorrelation in the analysis of species distributional data: a review. Ecography, **30**: 609-628.
- Dudík, M., Phillips, S.J., and Schapire, R.E. 2004. Performance guarantees for regularized maximum entropy density estimation. *In:* Proceedings of the 17<sup>th</sup> Annual Conference on Computational Learning Theory, ACM Press, New York, pp. 655-662.
- Dunn, D.C. and Halpin, P.N. 2009. Rugosity-based regional modeling of hard-bottom habitat. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser., 337: 1-11. doi: 10.3354/meps07839.
- Elith, J., Graham, C. H., Anderson, R. P., Dudík, M., Ferrier, S., Guisan, A., Hijmans, R.
  J., Huettmann, F., Leathwick, J. R., Lehmann, A., Li, J., Lohmann, L. G.,
  Loiselle, B. A., Manion, G., Moritz, C., Nakamura, M., Nakazawa, Y., Overton, J.
  McC., Peterson, A. T., Phillips, S. J., Richardson, K. S., Scachetti-Pereira, R.,
  Schapire, R. E., Soberón, J., Williams, S., Wisz, M. S., and Zimmermann, N. E.

2006. Novel methods improve prediction of species' distributions from occurrence data. Ecography, **29**: 129-151.

- FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations) 1995. Code of Conduct for Responsible Fisheries. Rome, FAO.
- FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations) 2002. Report of the Reykjavik Declaration on Responsible Fisheries in the Marine Ecosystem.
   Reykjavik, Icesland, 1-4 October 2001. FAO Fisheries Report No. 658. Rome, FAO.
- FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations) 2008. International Guidelines for the Management of Deep Sea Fisheries in the High Seas: FAO Technical Consultation document. Rome, FAO.
- Fielding, A.H., and Bell, J.F. 1997. A review of methods for the assessment of prediction errors in conservation presence/absence models. Env. Cons., **24**:38-49.
- Foreman, M. G. G., W. R. Crawford, J. Y. Cherniawsky and J. Galbraith. 2008. Dynamic ocean topography for the northeast Pacific and its continental margins. Geophys. Res. Lett. 35: L22606.
- Fosså, J.H., Mortensen, P.B., and Furevik, D.M. 2002. The deep-water coral *Lophelia pertusa* in Norwegian waters: distribution and fishery impacts. Hydrobiologia, 471(1-3): 1-12.
- Freese, J.L., Auster, P.J., Heifetz, J., and Wing, B.L. 1999. Effects of trawling on seafloor habitat and associated invertebrate taxa in the Gulf of Alaska. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 182: 119-126.
- Genin, A., Dayton, P.K., Lonsdale, P.F., and Spiess, F.N. 1986. Corals on seamount peaks provide evidence of current acceleration over deep-sea topography. Nature, 322: 59-61.
- Grigg, R.W. 1976. Distribution and abundance of precious corals in Hawaii. In Proceedings of the Second International Coral Reef Symposium Brisbane Reef, Australia, Volume II. Edited by A.M. Cameron pp. 235-240.
- Guisan, A., and Thuiller, W. 2005. Predicting species distribution: offering more than simple habitat models. Ecol. Let. **8**: 993-1009.
- Guisan, A., and Zimmermann, N.E. 2000. Predictive habitat distribution models in ecology. Ecol. Model. **135**: 147-186.

- Hall-Spencer, J., Allain, V., and Fosså, J.H. 2002. Trawling damage to Northeast Atlantic ancient coral reefs. Proc. R. Soc. London B, **269**: 507-511.
- Hernandez, P.A., Grahm, C.H., Master, L.L., and Albert, D.L. 2006. The effect of sample size and species characteristics on performance of different species distribution modeling methods. Ecography, 29: 773-785.
- Hirzel, A.H., Hausser, J., Chessel, D., and Perrin, N. 2002. Ecological-niche factor analysis: how to compute habitat-suitability maps without absence data? Ecol., 83: 2027-2036.
- Hourigan, T.F., Lumsden, S.E., Dorr, G., Bruckner, A.W., Brooke, S., and Stone, R.P. State of deep coral ecosystem of the United States: Introduction and national overview. *In* The State of Deep Coral Ecosystems of the United States. *Edited by* S.E. Lumsden, T.F. Hourigan, A.W. Bruckner, and G. Dorr NOAA Technical Memorandum CRCP-3. Silver Spring MD. pp. 1-64.
- IUCN (International Union for Conservation of Nature) 2001. IUCN Red List Categories and Criteria: Version 3.1. IUCN Species Survival Commission. IUCN, Gland, Switzerland and Cambridge, UK.
- Jensen, A., and Frederiksen, R. 1992. The fauna associated with the bank-forming deepwater coral *Lophelia pertusa* (Scleractinaria) on the Faroe shelf. Sarsia, **77**: 53-69.
- Jiménez-Valverde, A., and Lobo, J.M. 2007. Threshold criteria for conversion of probability of species presence to either-or presence-absence. Acta Oecologica, 31: 361-369.
- Koslow, J.A., Gowlet-Holmes, K., Lowry, J.K., O'Hara, T., Poore, G.C.B., and Williams, A. 2001. Seamount benthic macro-fauna off southern Tasmania: community structure and impacts of trawling. Mar. Ecol. Progr. Ser., 213: 111-125.
- Krieger, K.J. 2001. Coral (*Primnoa*) impacted by fishing gear in the Gulf of Alaska. In Proceedings of the First International Symposium on Deep-Sea Corals. *Edited by* J.H.M. Willison, J. Hall, S.E. Gass, E.L.R. Kenchington, M. Butler, and P. Doherty. Ecology Action Centre and Nova Scotia Museum, Halifax. pp. 106-116.
- Leverette, T.L., and Metaxas, A. 2005. Predicting habitat for two species of deep-water coral on the Canadian Atlantic continental shelf and slope. *In* Cold-water corals and ecosystems *Edited by*. A. Freiwald and J.M. Roberts. Springer Publishing House, Heidelberg, Germany. pp 467-479.
- Lui, C., Berry, P.M., Dawson, T.P., and Pearson, R.G. 2005. Selecting thresholds of occurrence in the prediction of species distributions. Ecography, 28:385-393.

- MacLeod, C.D., Mandelberg, L., Schweder, C., Bannon, S.M., and Pierce, G.J. 2008. A comparison of approaches for modelling the occurrence of marine animals. Hydrobiologia, 612: 21-32.
- Parker, N.R., Mladenov, P.V., and Grange, K.R. 1997. Reproductive biology of the antipatharian black coral *Antipathes fordensis* in Doubtful Sound, Fjordland, New Zealand. Mar. Biol., **130**: 103-120.
- Pearson, R.G., Raxworthy, C.L., Nakamura, M., and Peterson, A.T. 2007. Predicting species distributions from small numbers of occurrence records: a test case using cryptic geckos in Madagascar. J. Biogeogr., 34: 102-117.
- Phillips, S.J., Anderson, R.P., and Schapire, R.E. 2006. Maximum entropy modeling of species geographic distributions. Ecol. Model., 190: 231-259.
- Phillips, S.J., and Dudík, M. 2008. Modeling of species distributions with Maxent: new extensions and a comprehensive evaluation. Ecography, **31**: 161-175.
- Pitcher, C.R., Poiner, I.R., Hill, B.J., and Burridge, C.Y. 2000. Implications of the effects of trawling on sessile megazoobenthos on a tropical shelf in northeastern Australia. ICES J. Mar. Sci., 57: 1359-1368.
- Probert, P.K., McKnight, D.G., and Grove, S.L. 1997. Benthic invertebrate bycatch from a deep-water trawl fishery, Chatham Rise, New Zealand. Aquatic Conserv. Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst., 7: 27-40.
- Raes, N., and ter Steege, H. 2007. A null-model for significance testing of presence-only species distribution models. Ecography, **30**: 727-736.
- Roberts, J.M., Brown, C.J., Long, D., and Bates C.R. 2005. Acoustic mapping using a multibeam echosounder reveals cold-water coral reefs and surrounding habitats. Coral Reefs, 24: 654-669.
- Roberts, S., and Hirshfield, M. 2004. Deep-sea corals: out of sight, but no longer out of mind. Front. Ecol. Env., 2: 123-130.
- Rogers, A.D., Clark, M.R., Hall-Spencer, J.M., and Gjerde, K.M. 2008. The Science Behind the Guidelines: A Scientific Guide to the FAO Draft International Guidelines (December 2007) For the Management of Deep-Sea Fisheries in the High Seas and Examples of How the Guidelines May Be Practically Implemented. IUCN, Switzerland, 2008.
- Sainsbury, K.J., Campbell, R.A., Lindholm, R., and Whitelaw, A.W. 1997. Experimental management of an Australian multispecies fishery: examining the possibility of trawl-induced habitat modification. *In* Tropical Snappers and Groupers: Biology and Fisheries Management. Press, Boulder, CO. pp. 465-503.

- Sherwood, O.A., Jamieson, R.E., Edinger, E.N., Wareham, V.E. 2008. Stable C and N isotopic composition of cold-water corals from the Newfoundland and Labrador continental slope: Examination of trophic, depth and spatial effects. Deep-Sea Res. 155: 1392-1402.
- Sinclair, A. 2007. Trends in groundfish bottom trawl fishing activity. Canadian Science Advisory Secretariat Research Document 2007/006.
- Stone, R.P. 2006. Coral habitat in the Aleutian Islands of Alaska: depth distribution, finescale species associations, and fisheries interactions. Coral Reefs **25**: 229-238.
- Thorn, J.S., Nijman, V., Smith, D., and Nekaris, K.A.I. 2009. Ecological niche modeling as a technique for assessing and setting conservation priorities for Asian slow lorises (Primates: *Nycticebus*). Diversity Distrib., **15**: 289-298.
- Thiem, O., Ravagnan, E., Fosså, J.H., and Berntsen, J. 2006. Food supply mechanisms for cold-water corals along a continental shelf edge. J. Mar. Sys., **60**: 207-219.
- Tillin, H.M., Hiddink, J.G., Jennings, S., and Kaiser, M.J. 2006. Chronic bottom trawling alters the functional composition of benthic invertebrate communities on a seabasin scale. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser., 318: 31-45.
- Tittensor D.P., Baco-Taylor A.R., Brewin P., Clark M.R., Consalvey M., Hall-Spencer J.M., Rowden A.A., Schlacher T., Stocks K., and Rogers A.D. 2009. Predicting global habitat suitability for stony corals on seamounts. J. Biogeogr. 36(6): 1111-1128.
- Troffe, P.M., Levings, C.D., Piercey, G.E., and Keong, V. 2005. Fishing gear effects and ecology of the sea whip (*Halipteris willemoesi* (Cnidaria: Octocorallia: Pennatulacea)) in British Columbia, Canada: preliminary observations. Aquatic Conserv. Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst., 15: 523-533.
- Tsoar, A., Allouche, O., Steinitz, O., Rotem, D., and Kadmon, R. 2007. A comparative evaluation of presence-only methods for modelling species distribution. Div. Dist., 13: 397-405.
- UNGA (United Nations General Assembly) 2004. A/RES/59/25: Sustainable fisheries, including through the 1995 Agreement for the Implementation of the Provisions of the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea of 10 December 1982 relating to the Conservation and Management of Straddling Fish Stocks and Highly Migratory Fish Stocks, and related instruments.

- UNGA (United Nations General Assembly) 2006. A/RES/61/105: Sustainable fisheries, including through the 1995 Agreement for the Implementation of the Provisions of the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea of 10 December 1982 relating to the Conservation and Management of Straddling Fish Stocks and Highly Migratory Fish Stocks, and related instruments.
- UNGA(United Nations General Assembly) 2008. Agenda idem 49(f), Sustainable Development: Convention on Biological Diversity.
- Waller, R., Watling, L., Auster, P., and Shank, T. 2007. Anthropogenic impacts on the Corner Rise seamounts, north-west Atlantic Ocean. J. Mar. Biol. Ass. U.K., 87: 1075-1076.
- Waller, R.G., and Tyler, P.A. 2005. The reproductive biology of two deep-water, reefbuilding scleractinians from the NE Atlantic Ocean. Coral Reefs, **24**: 514-522.
- Watson, D.F. 1992. Contouring: a guide to the analysis and display of spatial data. Pergamon Press Inc., Tarrytown, NY.
- Wiley, E.O., McNyset, K.M., Peterson, A.T., Robins, C.R., and Stewart, A.M. 2003. Niche modeling and geographic range predictions in the marine environment using a machine-learning algorithm. Oceanogr., 16:120-127.

## TABLES

Table 1 Data sources and number of coral records collected for this study. Note that some observations occur in more than one database.

Source	Number of records
California Academy of Sciences	142
Fisheries and Oceans Canada (DFO)	1,269
Parks Canada	653
Royal British Columbia Museum	97
Global Biodiversity Information Facility	1,762
Royal Ontario Museum	20
Canadian Museum of Nature	42
Smithsonian National Museum of Natural History	106
Marine Conservation and Biology Institute	45

				-		
	Baseline	10 x 10 km	Depth cutoff			
Order	(2450m)	grid size	200 m	500 m	2000 m	2800 m
Alcyonacea	121	118	17	44	112	121
Antipatharia	49	44	2	2	44	49
Pennatulacea	84	102	25	25	83	84
Scleractinia	32	45	23	26	31	32

Table 2 Number of distinct coral records used as a function of grid size and depth. The baseline case uses a 500 m-by-500 m grid size and 2450 m depth cutoff. Bold numbers indicate that models that could not be built due to small sample size.

Environmental variable	Source	Original resolution	Minimum	Maximum	Median
Depth (m)	Canadian Hydrographic Service	75 m	1	2450	330
	US Geological Service	250 m			
Slope (degrees)	Derived from depth layer using Spatial Analyst Extention of ArcMap 9.2		0	70.73	0.79
Chlorophyll <i>a</i> concentration (µg/L)	Ocean Color http://oceancolor.gsfc.n asa.gov/	4 km	0.26	38.46	1.50
Summer current speed (m/s)	M. Foreman (Institute of Ocean Sciences, Sidney, BC, pers. comm.)	Variable	3 x 10 <sup>-6</sup>	1.03	0.015
Winter current speed (m/s)	M. Foreman	Variable	7 x 10 <sup>-6</sup>	1.27	0.021
Summer salinity (psu)	M. Foreman	Variable	17.63	34.68	33.95
Winter salinity (psu)	M. Foreman	Variable	25.56	34.68	33.91
Summer temperature (°C)	M. Foreman	Variable	1.50	16.86	5.42
Winter temperature (°C)	M. Foreman	Variable	1.53	9.38	6.13
Tidal speed (m/s)	M. Foreman	Variable	0.0052	0.92	0.046

Table 3 The type and source of environmental data used in this study, showing range and median values for each environmental variable.

Order	Families	Genera		
Alcyonacea	Acanthogorgiidae Alcyoniidae Gorgoniidae Isididae Nephtheidae Paragorgiidae Plexauridae Primnoidae	Acanthogorgia Anthomastus Callagorgia Eunephthya Gersemia Isidella Keratosis Lepidisis	Narella Paragorgia Parastenella Primnoa Swiftia	
Antipatharia	Antipathidae Cladopathidae Schizopathidae	Antipathes Bathypathes Chrysopathes Cladopathes Dendrobathypathes	Lillipathes Parantipathes Trissopathes Umbellapathes	
Pennatulacea	Anthoptilidae Funiculinidae Halipteridae Kophobelemnidae Ombelluiidae Pennatulidae Protoptilidae Stachyptilidae Virgulariidae	Anthoptilium Distichoptilum Funiculina Halipteris Kophobelemnon	Ombellula Pennatula Ptilosarcus Stylatula	
Scleractinia	Caryophyllidae Dendrophyllidae Flabellidae	Caryophyllia Paracyathus	Balanophyllia Javania	

Table 4 Families and genera represented in each taxonomic order used in this study.

Table 5 Maximum sensitivity-plus-specificity threshold, area under the receiver-operator curve (AUC), null model median AUC,
95% confidence interval (CI) of the AUC, and the true positive rate (cases in which coral occurred and were predicted to occur) and
false negative rate (cases in which coral occurred but was not predicted to occur) of the final model for each coral order.

Order	Maximum sensitivity- plus-specificity threshold	AUC	Null model median AUC	95% CI of null model AUC	True positive rate	False negative rate
Alcyonacea	0.331	0.908	0.743	0.701 - 0.790	0.88	0.12
Antipatharia	0.295	0.940	0.721	0.661 - 0.776	0.94	0.06
Pennatulacea	0.350	0.947	0.747	0.695 - 0.799	0.90	0.10
Scleractinia	0.352	0.864	0.754	0.681 - 0.816	0.84	0.16

	F	ishing effort (per 16 km	<sup>2</sup> )
Type of fishing	Minimum	Maximum	Median
Trawl (hours)	3	44,851	770
Trap (traps)	125	63,531	1,652
Longline (hooks)	800	763,675	16,900

Table 6 Cumulative minimum, maximum, and median values for fishing effort of the groundfish trawl (hours/16 km<sup>2</sup>), sablefish trap (traps/16 km<sup>2</sup>), and sablefish longline (hooks/16 km<sup>2</sup>) fisheries over a nine-year period (1996-2004).

		Percentage of area that overlaps with fishing activity			
	Area (km <sup>2</sup> )	Trawl	Trap	Longline	Cumulative
Alcyonacea	32,765	35.7	25.5	14.5	46.5
Antipatharia	23,669	22.2	21.3	7.2	30.4
Pennatulacea	18,496	37.5	27.4	11.0	46.2
Scleractinia	36,292	35.6	15.3	10.7	41.9
Study area	166,503	25.1	7.1	5.0	28.4

Table 7 Percentage of area of predicted suitable habitat for each order of coral and the entire study area that overlaps with three bottom-contact fisheries - trawl, trap, and longline (individually and cumulatively).

### **FIGURES**



Figure 1 Map of the study area and places described. The thicker black line indicates the 2450 m depth cutoff of the study area, while the lighter grey lines indicate the 200 m and 500 m contours.



Figure 2 Distribution of coral observations used in the present study for (a) Alcyonacea (n = 121); (b) Antipatharia (n = 49); (c) Pennatulacea (n = 84); and (d) Scleractinia (n = 32). The black lines represent the 2450 m depth contour used to define the study area.



Figure 3 Distribution of suitable habitat predicted by the final Maxent model for each of the four orders of coral. Darker shades indicate higher suitability. White areas indicate less suitable habitat. Insets indicate the relative contribution of each environmental variable to explaining the variation in location of coral according to the Maxent model, while + and – signs indicate the direction of correlation between predicted habitat suitability and increasing values for the environmental variables. Zeros indicate a < 1% contribution to the model and +/- signs indicate an increasing and then decreasing suitability of habitat as the environmental variable increases (i.e., a nonlinear function).



Figure 4 Spatial distribution and intensity of cumulative bottom-contact fishing effort over a nine-year period (1996-2004) for (a) groundfish trawl (trawl hours/16 km<sup>2</sup>); (b) sablefish trap (traps/16 km<sup>2</sup>); and (c) sablefish longline (hooks/16 km<sup>2</sup>).



Figure 5 Proportion of area fished by the three bottom-contact fisheries in the entire study area (dark bars) and in areas of predicted suitable habitat for each order of coral. In nearly all cases, fishing effort is disproportionately concentrated in areas of predicted suitable habitat for corals.



Figure 6 Areas of overlap (black) between predicted suitable habitat for corals and bottom-contact fishing. Marine grey areas indicate predicted suitable habitat that does not overlap with bottom-contact fishing. Maps are for (a) Alcyonacea; (b) Antipatharia; (c) Pennatulacea; and (d) Scleractinia.



Figure 7 Comparison of areas of high coral and sponge bycatch as reported by Ardron and Jamieson (2006) (numbered polygons) and predicted suitable habitat for all coral from the present study (dark grey areas). Areas 4, 6, and 8 are known hexactinellid sponge reefs. Areas 3, 5, 7, 9, 10, 11, and 12 correspond with areas of predicted suitable coral habitat. Areas 1 and 2 correspond with some areas predicted as being suitable coral habitat, although the majority of the area was predicted to be unsuitable.

# **APPENDIX 1 – MAXENT PARAMETER OPTIMIZATION**

### Introduction

Maxent has several parameter settings that can influence the model's ability to correctly identify areas of presence and absence. Most notably these parameters are the number of background points used to represent environmental variables in the study area, the type and combination of feature classes used, the  $\beta$  values for those features, and the regularization multiplier (all explained below).

The Maxent spatial distribution is calculated over all cells in the study area for which there is a complete set of environmental data. When the number of cells is large, processing time can be very long. For this reason, Maxent uses a subsample (with a default of 10,000 cells) of the data to represent the range of environmental conditions available within the study area to reduce run time of the model without compromising predictive performance (Phillips and Dudík 2008).

Maxent uses environmental layers to produce "features", which affect the type and complexities of relationships the model tries to fit. The Maxent software uses several feature classes, including linear, quadratic, product, threshold, and hinge features (Phillips et al. 2006; Phillips and Dudík 2008). There is also a categorical indicator feature, although this feature was not used in the current study because all environmental data were continuous. The linear, quadratic, and product features constrain the means, variances, and covariances of environmental variables, respectively, to match their empirical values (Phillips *et al.* 2006). Threshold features allow Maxent to fit binary

responses while hinge features allow a binary response to exist that is preceded or followed by a linear response to an environmental variable once a given threshold has been passed (Phillips and Dudík 2008). For example, a species may not be present in areas where the current speed is below a certain threshold. However, once that threshold has been passed, the probability of that species being present may then increase linearly as the current speed increases. The complexity of the model is controlled by the types of feature classes used and by settings called "regularization parameters", or  $\beta$  values, which control the error bounds on deviations of feature averages from their expected values (Dudík et al. 2004). These  $\beta$  values help prevent Maxent from overfitting the data by allowing the estimated probability distribution of a species' occurrence to fall within the empirical error bounds of the averages of the suite of features associated with each environmental variable rather than being exactly equal to it (Dudík et al. 2004; Phillips and Dudík 2008).

In addition to using  $\beta$  values, Maxent limits overfitting by using an additional regularization multiplier parameter. Values smaller than the default of 1.0 will result in a predicted distribution that fits the original input data more closely while larger values will result in a more diffuse, less localized distribution.

Phillips and Dudík (2008) determined the default set of feature classes, the  $\beta$  values for those features, and the number of background points using data on 226 terrestrial species, ranging from plants to mammals, from six regions in the world. The default values are well suited to a wide range of presence-only datasets as long as those data do not have characteristics that substantially deviate from the ones used by Phillips and Dudík (2008). To my knowledge, no other study has tested the applicability of these

default settings to other datasets, including marine organisms. I therefore decided to determine whether they were appropriate for the cold-water coral data used in this study.

#### Methods

When conducting the parameter optimization, data for each order of coral were randomly partitioned 10 times with 60% of the data selected for training, and the remaining 40% reserved for testing. Data were partitioned 10 times rather than once to assess the average performance of each model (Phillips et al. 2007) and to allow for statistical testing of differences in the AUC and log loss using two-sided Wilcoxon ranksum tests (Tittensor et al. 2009).

Following the method used by Phillips and Dudík (2008), models were built for each order of coral for different feature class settings, i.e., (linear (L); linear and quadratic (LQ); linear, quadratic and product (LQP); threshold (T); hinge (H)). For the LQ and LQP settings a single  $\beta$  value was used, i.e.  $\beta_L = \beta_Q$  and  $\beta_L = \beta_Q = \beta_P$ . The regularization parameter,  $\beta$ , was varied using the geometrically increasing sequence {0.02, 0.05, 0.10, 0.22, 0.46, 1.0, 2.2, 4.6} to bracket the range of suitable values suggested by theory (Dudík et al. 2004; Phillips and Dudík 2008). For each coral order and feature set, the average AUC and log loss values over the 10 random partitions were compared using two-sided Wilcoxon rank-sum tests to the AUC and log loss values obtained when using the default settings of the model.

The study area was composed of 666,010 500 m-by-500 m grid cells. For each coral order, models were built using 100, 1000, 10,000 (default) and 100,000 background grid cells to represent the range of environmental conditions available within the study
area. Models were also constructed with regularization multiplier values of 0.1, 0.22, 0.46, 1.0 (default), 2.2, and 4.6. The resulting models were compared to results arising from the default settings using two-sided Wilcoxon rank-sum tests.

### Results

In nearly all cases, the feature combinations and beta values tested did not produce AUC or log loss values that were significantly better than the default settings (p > 0.05) (Figure A1.1), though they were frequently significantly worse. Likewise, varying the number of background points and the regularization multiplier used to construct the model did not significantly improve the AUC or log loss scores (p > 0.05), and were occasionally significantly worse (results not shown).

### Conclusion

The results of the parameter optimization analyses conducted for the four orders of cold-water coral in BC indicate that the default settings in Maxent are suitable for these data. It is therefore reasonable to use the default parameter settings for all subsequent analyses with these data.



Figure A1.1 β- curves for the four orders of coral. Lines represent the average performance of Maxent in terms of log loss and AUC over 10 random partitions for each of the 7 features. The thick solid horizontal line indicates the average log loss and AUC scores obtained using the default settings. Grey areas indicate one standard deviation from the default averages.

# **APPENDIX 2 – ENVIRONMENTAL VARIABLES**

## **Correlation matrix of environmental variables**



Figure A2.1 Ellipses with a positive slope indicate a positive correlation, while negative slopes indicate a negative relationship. Thinner ellipses reflect higher correlation. Grey ellipses indicate correlation r > 0.75 while black ellipses indicate correlation r > 0.90. Tempwin = winter temperature; tempsum = summer temperature; tidal = tidal speed; chloro = spring surface chlorophyll *a* concentration; flowwin = winter current speed; flowsum = summer current speed; slope = slope of seafloor; salsum = summer salinity; salwin = winter salinity; bathy = depth.

Run		Environmental variables used	d
1	Depth	Summer current speed	Tidal speed
	Slope	Winter current speed	Summer salinity
	Chlorophyll <i>a</i> conc.		
2	Depth	Summer current speed	Summer salinity
	Slope	Winter current speed	Winter temperature
	Chlorophyll <i>a</i> conc.	Tidal speed	
3	Slope	Summer current speed	Tidal speed
	Chlorophyll <i>a</i> conc.	Winter current speed	Winter salinity
4	Slope	Summer current speed	Summer salinity
	Chlorophyll <i>a</i> conc.	Winter current speed	Summer temperature
		Tidal speed	
5	Slope	Summer current speed	Tidal speed
	Chlorophyll <i>a</i> conc.	Winter current speed	Summer temperature
6	Depth	Summer current speed	Summer salinity
	Slope	Winter current speed	Winter salinity
	Chlorophyll <i>a</i> conc.	Tidal speed	Summer temperature
7	Depth	Summer current speed	Summer salinity
	Slope	Winter current speed	Summer temperature
	Chlorophyll <i>a</i> conc.	Tidal speed	Winter temperature
8	Depth	Summer current speed	Winter salinity
	Slope	Winter current speed	Winter temperature
	Chlorophyll <i>a</i> conc.	Tidal speed	
9	Slope	Summer current speed	Summer salinity
	Chlorophyll <i>a</i> conc.	Winter current speed	Winter salinity
		Tidal speed	Winter temperature

Table A2.1 Environmental variables used for each sensitivity analysis run in which variables with a correlation of r > 0.75 or r > 0.90 were removed.

### **Distribution of environmental variables**

Figures A2.2 – A2.11 illustrate the relative frequency density distribution of each environmental variable within the entire study area and for each order of coral. These figures visually demonstrate that the coral are selective in terms of habitat and that each order has unique habitat preferences that differentiate them from each others. For example, Antipatharia and Pennatulacea are distributed unevenly with respect to depth. They are found disproportionately more frequently in the 500 – 1500 m depth range than they are at other depths.



Figure A2.2 Relative frequency density plot of **depth** (**m**) for the entire study area (solid lines) and for each order (dotted lines). Vertical lines indicate median values.



Figure A2.3 Relative frequency density plot of **slope (degrees)** for the entire study area (solid lines) and for each order (dotted lines). Vertical lines indicate median values.



Figure A2.4 Relative frequency density plot of **spring chlorophyll** *a* **concentration** (**mg/cm**<sup>3</sup>) for the entire study area (solid lines) and for each order (dotted lines). Vertical lines indicate median values.



Figure A2.5 Relative frequency density plot of **summer current speed (m/s)** for the entire study area (solid lines) and for each order (dotted lines). Vertical lines indicate median values.



Figure A2.6 Relative frequency density plot of **winter current speed (m/s)** for the entire study area (solid lines) and for each order (dotted lines). Vertical lines indicate median values.



Figure A2.7 Relative frequency density plot of **tidal speed** (**m/s**) for the entire study area (solid lines) and for each order (dotted lines). Vertical lines indicate median values.



Figure A2.8 Relative frequency density plot of **summer salinity (psu)** for the entire study area (solid lines) and for each order (dotted lines). Vertical lines indicate median values.



Figure A2.9 Relative frequency density plot of **winter salinity (psu)** for the entire study area (solid lines) and for each order (dotted lines). Vertical lines indicate median values.



Figure A2.10 Relative frequency density plot of **summer temperature** (° C) for the entire study area (solid lines) and for each order (dotted lines). Vertical lines indicate median values.



Figure A2.11 Relative frequency density plot of **winter temperature** (° C) for the entire study area (solid lines) and for each order (dotted lines). Vertical lines indicate median values.